1981

# Harry J. Christiansen v. Utah Transit Authority And John G. Miller : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The Court's refusal to give Plaintiff's requested instructions and the giving of instructions objected to by the Plaintiff deny to Plaintiff the right to a fair trial.
2. The Plaintiff was denied a fair trial by the failure of the

Defendant John G. Miller to appear at trial and the Plaintiff should have granted judgment against the Defendant John G. Miller as prayed.

3. The failure and refusal of the Court to instruct the jury the consequences of their apportionment of negligence denied to Plaintiff right to a fair trial.

4. The jury's verdict was a result of sympathy, bias, prejudice and passion and was contrary to the clear weight of the evidence.

5. The Court's refusal to grant Plaintiff's Motion to amend Complaint to assert wilful and wanton negligence denied Plaintiff a fair trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose out of a collision between a passenger automobile and a Utah Transit Authority bus which occurred on 700 East at 2100 South Salt Lake City, Utah, on January 17, 1978, at approximately 6:30 p.m. The following facts are uncontroverted in the record and corroborated by the testimony of the witnesses. It should be noted that where the testimony of the Defendant John G. Miller is cited, references are to the deposition of John G. Miller which was read into the record at trial and which is an exhibit on appeal. References to the testimony of John G. Miller given at trial will be to his deposition.

The collision which is the subject of this lawsuit occurred on January 17, 1978, at approximately 6:30 p.m. See Record, pp. 354-56. The Plaintiff was driving a 1971 Ford Mustang coupe. See Record, p. 53. The Defendant John G. Miller was an employee of and driving a bus for the Utah Transit Authority. Utah Transit Authority conceded at trial that Mr. Miller was employed by them and operating the bus as their employee. Defendant Utah Transit Authority stipulated at trial that any judgment against Mr. Miller could be entered



against Utah Transit Authority because of the employer-employee relationship. Both vehicles were traveling Southbound on 700 East and approaching 2100 South in Salt Lake City. See Tr. pp. 354, 292. The Plaintiff Mr. Christiansen testified that as he approached 2100 South, he signalled and turned into the righthand lane. As he approached 2100 South, another Utah Transit Authority bus was stopped in the righthand lane waiting for a red light and Mr. Christiansen stopped approximately 10 feet behind the first bus. Tr. p. 355.

Mr. Miller testified that as his bus approached 2100 South, the Mustang driven by the Plaintiff pulled into his lane, it may or may not have been signaling, he did not recall, and the Mustang then stopped behind the first bus. Mr. Miller applied the brakes on his bus, but was unable to stop the bus prior to its impact with the Plaintiff's vehicle. See Tr. pp. 291-293. The version of the accident most favorable to the Defendant is that given by Mr. Miller in his deposition. Mr. Miller's version of the accident is as follows: "The bus was in the lane traveling Southbound on 7th East in the righthand lane with another bus ahead of him." See Tr. pp. 291-2. As Defendant Miller's bus approached the light at 21st South, which light was red, a bus was stopped to wait for the light. As Mr. Miller approached the intersection, the Mustang pulled in front, drove for a few seconds and stopped. See Tr. p. 292, lines 4-7. Mr. Miller testified that the Mustang was stopped at the time his bus hit him and that the Mustang had been stopped one or two seconds prior to the impact. Tr. p. 292, lines 17-20. Mr. Miller further testified that the stop made by the Mustang was not a panic stop or a sliding stop, but just a quick stop. Tr. pp. 292-93. Mr. Miller testified that the Mustang did not skid his brakes, did not slide his wheels, but merely made what Mr. Miller characterized

as a quick stop. Tr. p. 293. Mr. Miller further testified that the Plaintiff had come to a complete stop and released his brakes so that the brake lights were off at the time of the collision. See Tr. pp. 293-94. Mr. Miller testified that the vehicle he was operating had "spongy" brakes and that the brakes were not operating efficiently. Tr. pp. 294-95. Mr. Miller testified that he struck the Mustang with enough impact to knock it forward 30-40 feet, Tr. p. 295, but that he did not knock him forward far enough to strike the vehicle behind which the Plaintiff was stopped for the red light. Mr. Miller testified that the accident could have been prevented if his brakes on the bus had been 100% effective. See Tr. p. 302, lines 17-24.

The deposition testimony of Mr. Miller appears to conflict with his written statement he gave to his company at the time of the accident. (Record, pp. 48-49) in that when he describes the accident in detail (Record, p. 49) he states that a Mustang stopped abruptly, he applied brakes and was unable to stop. There is no mention of the Mustang pulling into his lane to create a hazard.

Mr. Miller testified that he had reported to the company on the day of the accident that the brakes were very spongy and that the bus had received a road call earlier in the day. See Record, p. 303, lines 1-8. The Record further indicates that Mr. Miller notified the sign out man at the time the bus left the garage, that the brakes were spongy. See Record, p. 303, lines 24-25; p. 304, lines 4-12. Mr. Miller testified by deposition that at the time the Mustang pulled into his lane of traffic, it was 25-30 feet in front of the bus. Record, p. 308, at lines 408. Mr. Miller testified that the bus and the Mustang traveled in the same lane of traffic for approximately 400 feet prior to the time the accident occurred. Tr. p. 308 at lines 22-25. Mr. Miller testified that he began gentle braking at the time the Mustang came into his

and that the Mustang traveled in his lane two or three seconds before it started to apply its brakes. See Tr. p. 309. Mr. Miller testified that during the two to three seconds that he traveled in the Southbound lane prior to the Mustang beginning its braking maneuver, he was braking gently but did nothing to increase the distance between the Mustang and the bus. See Record, p. 309 at lines 4-19. During the whole time that the Mustang was in his lane, Mr. Miller was apparently attempting to slow the bus through gentle braking. See Record, pp. 309-311. Mr. Miller testified that during the two or three seconds that he estimated the Mustang was in his lane before he started to brake, he had not done anything to increase the actual distance between his bus and the Mustang, See Record, p. 312, lines 14-22, yet in the accident report he gave the company, he blamed the bad brakes for the accident.

Mr. Miller testified that at the time of the collision, the road was wet. See Record, p. 313, lines 22-23. Mr. Miller watched the Mustang as it stopped and even though the road was wet, the Mustang did not slide or fishtail as it stopped, but just stopped in a straight line without skidding. See Tr. p. 314 at lines 2-11. Mr. Miller testified that in his opinion, if the brakes had been up to par, he would have been unable to stop without colliding with the Mustang. See Record, p. 302 at lines 17-24.

The testimony of Mr. Miller in his deposition differs significantly from his written statement made immediately after the accident. See Record, pp. 48-49, 283-320. In the accident report, Record pp. 48-49, Mr. Miller makes no mention of the Mustang pulling into his lane. Mr. Miller indicates in his statement that bad brakes on the bus caused the accident. Due to his failure to appear at trial, Plaintiff was precluded from cross examination on this

significant change in his description of the events of the collision.

The testimony of Mr. Christiansen was that he pulled into the hand lane of travel a good one-half block North of 21st South, came to a stop behind a bus stopped for the red light at 21st South, and that he was parked behind the first bus waiting for the light to change when he noticed a second bus approaching from the rear in his rear view mirror. It was this second bus which subsequently collided with his vehicle. See Record, pp. 355-56.

The Plaintiff-Appellant received numerous injuries as a result of the collision referred to above which injuries were corroborated by the testimony of Dr. Reams, Dr. Wright, Dr. Ruoff, Dr. Nelson and Dr. Horne. Mr. Christiansen himself testified regarding the pain and suffering he has experienced as a result of the injuries received in the collision. Mr. Christiansen testified that as a result of the injuries and disabilities sustained by him in the collision, he had lost income and was damaged by being unable to work certain periods of time. The injuries of Mr. Christiansen were corroborated by testimony from his mother, Ruth Christiansen, as well as by the testimony of the doctors who appeared and testified on his behalf. Dr. Horne testified that as a result of the injuries sustained in the collision, Mr. Christiansen had certain permanent disabilities.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I. THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS AND THE GIVING OF INSTRUCTIONS OBJECTED TO BY THE PLAINTIFF DENY TO PLAINTIFF THE RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The trial Court, over the objection of the Plaintiff, gave the following instructions requested by the Defendant numbered 21, 22, 23 and 25 of the instructions, Record at pp. 158-161, and refused to give Plaintiff's requested

instruction no. 8 (Record at p. 115). The Court also refused to give an instruction requested by the Plaintiff relating to the legal affect of the apportionment of negligence by the jury. The Court's refusal to give that particular instruction will be discussed at Point III in the brief. The Plaintiff properly took exception to the refusal to the Court to give its instruction no. 8 and to the giving of instructions no. 21, 22, 23 and 24 given by the Court and requested by Defendants. See Record, pp. 728-730. The Plaintiff further objected to the restriction on closing argument imposed by the Court wherein the Plaintiff was limited to 30 minutes for its closing argument. See Record, p. 730.

The Court refused to give Plaintiff's requested instruction no. 8 which would have instructed the jury as follows:

If you should find that it was within the power of the parties to produce stronger and more satisfactory evidence than that which was offered on a material point, you may view with distrust any weaker and less satisfactory evidence actually offered by him on that point, unless such failure is satisfactorily explained.

The Defendants failed to produce at trial the Defendant John Miller, the supervisor who signed out the bus to John Miller on the date of the accident, and the mechanic who repaired the brakes on the bus after the collision occurred. The Defendants never at any time during the trial offered a satisfactory explanation as to why these three witnesses were not at the trial. In fact, as to the Defendant John Miller, the Plaintiff claims a particular prejudice in his not being available to testify at trial which is discussed herein as Point II. One of the critical contentions of the Plaintiff in the case was that at the time John Miller took the bus onto the road, he communicated to the sign-out man that the bus had bad brakes and was told by the sign-out man to take the

bus out anyway. The Defendant's defense was based partially on the fact they claimed the bus did not have bad brakes when it was taken onto the street yet they failed to produce the witness who could have given an opinion based on actual observation, the sign-out man, who Mr. Miller states drove the bus to the block before he took it out. It was clearly within the power of the Utah Transit Authority to produce stronger evidence for their claim that the bus did not have bad brakes, in the person of the sign-out man, than was produced at trial.

With respect to the particular mechanic that worked on the brakes of the bus, on two separate occasions the Plaintiff attempted to take his deposition, see Record at pp. 73, 77, and the Utah Transit Authority failed on both occasions to produce the mechanic who worked on the brakes for deposition. Again at trial the Defendant Utah Transit Authority defended the Plaintiff's claim that the brakes were faulty by bringing in a supervisor who had not worked on the particular brakes in question, who testified and gave opinions based on a report filed by the mechanic who did the work in lieu of producing the mechanic himself. Thus, there was certainly a situation in the case which warranted the instruction no. 8 requested by the Plaintiff. By refusing to give the said instruction, the Plaintiff was precluded in his closing argument from telling the jury the fact that the less trustworthy evidence produced by the Defendant should be viewed in a more critical light than it was because of the failure to produce the actual witnesses who had the firsthand knowledge of the situation. Thus, the Plaintiff respectfully urges that it was prejudicial for the Court to refuse to give requested instruction no. 8.

The Court, over the objection of Plaintiff, gave instruction:

Record at p. 158. The Plaintiff specifically objected to the last paragraph of said instruction where it states that each driver was required to use due care in the following respect, to-wit:

Not to suddenly stop or decrease his speed without first ascertaining that he can do so with reasonable safety and, if other vehicles are to be affected by such movement, not without first giving the appropriate signal to the driver to the rear that such movement is to be made.

The Plaintiff objected to this particular paragraph of the instruction on the grounds that it is misleading to the jury. The evidence in the case is that both the Plaintiff's vehicle and the bus which was following him were approaching a red light at 2100 South on 7th East. The evidence is uncontroverted that Mr. Christiansen in his vehicle stopped behind a bus which had stopped for a red light. Both drivers were aware of the fact that as they approached the intersection that a stop would have to be made because the light was red. Thus, to instruct the jury regarding a duty "not to stop or suddenly decrease his speed without first ascertaining that he can do so with reasonable safety," is inappropriate because the Plaintiff had a duty to stop for the red light and not signal other than his brake lights could arguably be required.

There is no evidence in the case that would necessitate the giving of the last paragraph of instruction no. 21. The appropriate signal is given by the brake lights of the vehicle at such time as the Plaintiff puts his foot onto the brake pedal. Because of the fact that the bus driver is charged with knowledge that the Mustang must stop at the red light, to give this instruction says to the jury that they could properly find the Plaintiff negligent for having stopped his vehicle behind a bus stopped for a red light when the stop that he made was required by law. Such instruction is misleading and prejudicial

to the Plaintiff.

The Court gave, over the objection of Plaintiff, instruction 22 (Record at p. 159) which states:

You are instructed that a person operating an automobile upon a public highway has an obligation to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear, as well as in all other directions, from which traffic may be approaching in order to avoid danger to himself and others and to operate his vehicle in a safe and prudent manner in accordance with the conditions then and there existing including those conditions which might reasonably be anticipated. The duty of one operating an automobile to keep a reasonable lookout to the rear increases when the driver contemplates slowing or stopping his automobile upon the traveled portion of the highway.

It is the contention of the Plaintiff that this particular instruction is superfluous and unduly emphasizes whatever duty there may have been on behalf of the Plaintiff to exercise care in the operation of his vehicle. Assuming an instruction is proper, instruction 21 has already stated that the Plaintiff has an obligation to use due care in operating his vehicle. The collision question was caused by the faulty brakes of the bus and by the fact that the bus driver did not keep a proper lookout and perhaps followed too close. Mr. Christiansen was obligated to stop at the red light to avoid colliding with vehicles in front of him, instruction no. 22 unduly emphasizes a duty of Mr. Christiansen to safely operate his vehicle when there is no evidence in the record that would support a violation of Mr. Christiansen of any duties he may have had to the following vehicle.

The Court, over the objection of the Plaintiff, gave instruction no. 23, which the Plaintiff contends under the facts in the case is a misstatement of the law under the circumstances of this case. In instruction 23,



Court instructs the jury that a person shall not stop or suddenly decrease the speed of the vehicle without giving an appropriate signal as provided by law, when he has an opportunity to give such a signal. It further states that the signal to be given may be either made by the hand extended downward or by the illumination of stop lights on the rear of the vehicle. The Defendant specifically objects to paragraph 3 of the said instruction on the grounds that it tells the jury that the illumination of brake lights does not meet the statutory requirement of giving an appropriate signal and that it directly conflicts with paragraph two which states that the giving of the mechanical signal by the brake lights is acceptable. The instruction is utterly confusing and would allow the jury to adopt the view that Mr. Christiansen violated his duty to the following vehicle by not giving an appropriate signal of his stop when, in fact, there is no evidence in the case upon which the jury could properly base a finding that Mr. Christiansen did not properly signal his stop. Even if we were to assume that Mr. Christiansen did not signal the stop, a fact for which there is no support in the evidence, the bus driver is charged with knowledge that Mr. Christiansen is going to stop because of the fact that they are approaching an intersection governed by a red and green traffic signal which is red for the Christiansen vehicle as well as the bus which is following him. The Plaintiff respectfully submits that paragraph three of instruction no. 23 is a complete misstatement of the law as it relates to the facts in this case. Plaintiff further contends that instruction 23 is repetitious and merely restates the principles set forth in instructions 21 and 22 and places undue emphasis on the duty to signal to following vehicles an intention to stop. The law does not require any further signal from a vehicle stopping at a red light than

illumination of brake lights and indeed the red signal light is a signal vehicles should stop. Instruction 23 is prejudicial to the rights of the plaintiff, and is clearly responsible for causing the jury to come to the verdict it did. Clearly the instruction created a misunderstanding of a law relating to the duty of the lead vehicle in a rear end collision situation and caused the jury to assess more negligence to Plaintiff than would have been assessed if proper instructions had been given.

The Court, over the objection of the Plaintiff, gave instruction no. 24 submitted by the Defendant (See Record, p. 161.) This instruction is what is commonly known as the sudden peril instruction. However, there is no evidence in the record from which the jury could properly find that the bus driver was confronted with what in the contemplation of the law is referred to as a situation involving sudden peril. Taken in the light most favorable to the Defendant, it is uncontroverted that the bus driver followed the Christiansen vehicle for some period of time prior to the time that the Christiansen vehicle came to its stop. The bus driver, even though he was aware of the fact that the bus had bad brakes, and that the roads were slick from the rain, did nothing during the period of time he followed the Christiansen vehicle, to increase the distance between the Christiansen vehicle and the bus to a distance that he felt was a safe stopping distance. The bus was approaching a red light at 21st South as was the Christiansen vehicle. The bus knew that the Christiansen vehicle would have to stop for the red light. The bus had failed to keep a minimum safe stopping distance between himself and the Christiansen vehicle, therefore, when the Christiansen vehicle stopped, the collision resulted from the negligence of the bus driver, not because of any sudden peril in

the bus driver found himself. The giving by the Court of instruction no. 24 was prejudicial to the Plaintiff in that it presented a distorted situation to the jury and would allow them to find negligence on the Plaintiff or a lack of negligence on the Defendant which did not relate to the actual evidence and circumstances surrounding the collision as presented by the testimony.

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