1981

Harry J. Christiansen v. Utah Transit Authority And John G. Miller : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

Defendants were entitled to an instruction supporting their theory of the case. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621 (Utah 1977). If Instruction 22 duplicated Instruction 21 such duplication is not reversible error. Woodhouse v. Johnson, 436 P.2d 442 (Utah 1968). Johnson v. Cornwall Warehouse Co., 398 P.2d 24 (Utah 1965).

Thus, Instruction 21 was properly given.

D. The Trial Court Properly Gave Instruction No. 23.

Plaintiff asserts that paragraph 3 of Instruction 23 is an incorrect statement of the law. As noted earlier, however, the simultaneous placement of the brakes and the braking lights has been deemed by this Court and the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals not to comply with the statute. In fact, paragraph 3 of Instruction 23 is exactly the same instruction which was approved by this Court in Stapley v. Salt Lake City Lines, 418 P.2d 779 (Utah 1966). See also United States v. First Security Bank of Utah, 208 F.2d 424 (10th Cir. 1953).

Again, Plaintiff contends that since the vehicles were approaching an intersection the bus driver should have anticipated the stop of Plaintiff regardless of any signal given. This argument is based on the assumption that the Plaintiff stopped in an appropriate manner and in an

appropriate place at the intersection. The evidence showed, however, that the point of accident was some 150 feet from the intersection and that the plaintiff stopped, according to Defendants' version of the evidence, approximately 50 feet in back of the preceding UTA bus.

Under these circumstances the jury was entitled to determine whether the Plaintiff suddenly stopped or suddenly decreased his speed in such a manner that a signal should have been given.

Furthermore, any repetition as to Instructions 21 and 22 is again, as previously noted, harmless error since in each instruction a different principle concept was being explained to the jury.

E. The Trial Court Properly Gave Plaintiff's Instruction No. 24.

Plaintiff complains that the lower court improperly gave Instruction No. 24 which states that a person who is without negligence on his part and is suddenly and unexpectedly confronted with peril arising from either the actual presence or the appearance of imminent danger to himself or to others is not expected nor required to use the same judgment and prudence that may be required of him in calmer and more deliberate moments. (R. 161). Plaintiff contends that even in the light most favorable to the defendants "it is uncontroverted that the bus driver followed the Christiansen

vehicle for some period of time prior to the time that the Christiansen vehicle came to its stop." (Appellant's brief p. 12).

Plaintiff's assertion is completely erroneous. Defendant John Miller testified that upon leaving the bus stop at 1950 South 7th East he proceeded south on 7th East at around 30 miles an hour. (R. 299). He stated that the Mustang pulled into his lane so it was positioned about 25 to 30 feet in front of the bus. (R. 308). Miller stated that Plaintiff's vehicle was in his lane for approximately two or three seconds before Plaintiff applied his brakes and abruptly stopped. During this short two or three second period defendant Miller was attempting to slow the bus down to increase the space between the vehicles but could not do so. (R. 309-312). When the brake lights of the Mustang went on Mr. Miller floored the brakes in a panic stop of the bus. (R. 313).

While Miller estimated that the distance the two cars traveled during the period of time after the Mustang entered his lane was 400 feet (R. 308), Mr. Rudolph Limper, Plaintiff's reconstruction expert, admitted that if the bus driver's estimate of time and speed were correct the two vehicles would only have traveled 88 feet together rather than 400. (R. 657). The jurors were entitled to determine based upon the evidence presented by the various parties

whether they believed Mr. Miller's estimate of speed and time was more accurate than his estimate as to traveled distance.

Assuming, therefore, that the bus was traveling at 30 miles an hour in the right lane and that the plaintiff cut in front of the bus at approximately the same speed leaving a 25 or 30 foot space between them, and assuming that the car only traveled for two or three seconds before abruptly braking, it was therefore proper for the jury to be instructed that the actions of the plaintiff had placed the defendant bus driver in a perilous situation which excused him from the same standard of care that is normally applicable in cases where sudden and unexpected confrontations have not occurred.

The Supreme Court of Washington in Grapp v. Peterson, 168 P.2d 400 (Wash. 1946) dealt with nearly an identical problem. In that case the plaintiff complained that a sudden peril instruction had been given and was not justified. The defendant, just as here, claimed that the plaintiff had darted in front of his vehicle and had abruptly stopped, therefore causing the collision. In finding that the giving of the sudden peril instruction was not erroneous the Washington Supreme Court stated the following:

Obviously there is a difference between a situation where a respondent driver by his own choice follows so closely behind another

car upon the highway that he is unable to stop in time to avoid a collision with the leading car, and a situation where the leading car by passing and cutting in front of the respondent, places the respondent unwittingly in a following car position. Thus in the second situation, when the leading car stops suddenly, the respondent is placed in a position of sudden peril through no fault of his own.

In the first situation the respondent clearly has the responsibility of avoiding the collision. In the second situation, in accordance with the established rule, the respondent ought not to be held to the same burden to avoid a collision as one who has had time for deliberate actions. The court's instruction No. 7 properly applies to this latter situation. Id. at 403.

See also Jaeger v. Estep, 384 P.2d 174 (Ore. 1963).

In summary, therefore, the instructions given by the trial court and the one instruction refused to be given by the trial court were proper considering the state of the record at the conclusion of the trial. Appellant continually maintains that this is a case where a car slowed down and stopped for a red light and under such circumstances was not required to give any type of signal. (Appellant's brief, pp. 12-15). Were the evidence consistent with this view Plaintiff's position would be correct. However, Defendants' theory rested upon the assumption that the automobile being driven by Plaintiff cut in front of the bus, traveled with the bus for only two or three seconds, abruptly made a stop, and did so some 50 feet from the preceding bus and some 150 feet

from the red light.

The jury was therefore entitled to determine under the circumstances argued by Defendants whether or not a signal should have been given to the bus driver of this stop, whether the bus driver had done anything negligent in controlling the speed or distance between the vehicles and, of course, whether the brakes of the bus were functioning properly. Because of these considerations the jury was entitled to be instructed as to the various legal rules applicable so that the jurors could determine for themselves whether the circumstances justified the application of these rules. There was, therefore, no error committed by the lower court in the jury instructions.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY THE FAILURE OF DEFENDANT JOHN G. MILLER TO APPEAR AND TESTIFY.

Plaintiff asserts that he was denied a fair trial because of certain "misrepresentations" of defense counsel concerning the appearance of John Miller at trial and because of the prejudicial effect his failure to appear had upon cross-examination. Both of these contentions are unfounded.

First, Plaintiff makes numerous claims in his brief that he had been "misled" by the statements of defense counsel concerning Mr. Miller's availability. (Appellant's

brief, pp. 15-19). These assertions are completely unsupported by the record and there is no stipulation, testimony, or order as to any of the claimed representations made by Defendants' counsel. It is fundamental that contentions not preserved in the appellate record cannot be considered on appeal. Skyline Leasing v. Datacap, 545 P.2d 512 (Utah 1976). Furthermore, it is the plaintiff's obligation to protect his record as to any supposed representations or stipulations of opposing counsel and the failure to do so is fatal to such a claim. Mounts Bell v. Herrington, 555 P.2d 687 (N.M. 1976).

Second, however, what documents do exist in the record pertaining to Miller's appearance directly contradict Plaintiff's assertion of misrepresentation. On April 26, 1980, some four days prior to the trial, the plaintiff himself filed a "Motion to Permit Use of Defendant Miller's Deposition in Lieu of Defendant's Appearance." (R. 91-92) This motion stated the following:

The plaintiff by and through counsel and pursuant to Rule 32 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby moves the court for an order granting the right to the plaintiff to produce a person at trial to act as the witness, John G. Miller. This motion is based upon the following:

1. Counsel for the defendant assured counsel for the plaintiff that he would produce the defendant at trial.
2. Counsel for the defendant properly notified counsel for the plaintiff by letter

of October 22, 1979, that he was having difficulty obtaining the defendant's cooperation, that he had attempted to subpoena him for trial, but as of April 22, 1980, had not been able to do so.

3. Based upon the letter of April 22, 1980, from defendant's counsel, counsel for the plaintiff has caused a subpoena to be issued and will attempt to serve such subpoena before the trial date which commences on April 3, 1980.

4. In the event that the subpoena of either the defendant's counsel or the plaintiff's counsel is not served or, in the alternative, is not observed by the defendant, the plaintiff needs to utilize the testimony of the defendant at a deposition. Such deposition has been filed with the court by defendant's counsel.

Plaintiff further moves for the publishing of the defendant's deposition for use at trial.

Dated this 26th day of April, 1980.

(signed) David K. Robinson
Attorney for Plaintiff

Thus, the record shows that Defendants' counsel notified Plaintiff's counsel as early as October 22, 1979, of the problem involved in obtaining Mr. Miller for trial. A further letter of April 22, 1980, again alerted Plaintiff's counsel as to this problem. It is therefore difficult to believe that "counsel for defendant assured counsel for plaintiff up to and including the first day of trial that Mr. Miller would be available and that they would have Mr. Miller available at the trial." (Appellant's brief, p. 18).

Likewise, Plaintiff's claim that on the first day of trial counsel for Defendants assured counsel for Plaintiff that "Mr. Miller was driving in from Chicago and would be available at the trial to testify," (Appellant's brief, p. 19) is also highly suspect in light of the opening statement made by Defendants' counsel on the first day of trial. Mr. Tim Hanson, defense counsel, stated the following to the jury:

As you are already aware, I will represent the Transit Authority and I also represent their driver, Mr. Miller. Mr. Miller is not currently employed. He has been for some time with the Transit Authority and the evidence will show that he currently drives a long-distance truck. Hopefully we will have him here but he will be able to testify in addition to his deposition that has been taken.

I don't know if you know what depositions are, but that is a procedure where the attorneys before a trial come to court here, take testimony under oath from parties or witnesses or whoever we want who knew something about the accident. Fortunately in this case that has been done with regard to Mr. Miller so you will have the benefit of his testimony. (Tr. 331).

Certainly, this statement does not seem to reflect Plaintiff's assertion that defense counsel had intended on Mr. Miller's arrival the following day.

Third, it should be noted that the deposition of Mr. Miller was introduced and read into the record by the plaintiff--not the defendants. This Court should note that Plaintiff made no objection as to any prejudice

occurring from the reading of this deposition. (Tr. 461-462). It is therefore hard to conceive how Plaintiff was prejudiced when he specifically requested the reading of the deposition both prior to trial and during trial and further failed to object to any alleged prejudice which would occur by the absence of Mr. Miller.

Finally, the claimed prejudice of being unable to cross-examine Miller as to the accident report he previously filed is also totally groundless. The Transportation Loss Report dated January 18, 1977, referred to by Plaintiff in his brief (Appellant's brief, p. 16), was actually introduced into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit 31. For this reason alone the jury had the benefit of the testimony of Miller and could compare it with the alleged discrepancy contained in the Transportation Loss Report.

More importantly, however, this report was specifically referred to during the time of the deposition and Mr. Miller referred to it throughout his deposition testimony. (R. 291-320). As an example, Mr. Wells in questioning Mr. Miller entered into the following dialogue:

- Q. Now, you have indicated in your loss report that you filed with the company, you stated here that you bumped into the rear of a car just as I was leaving a stop.
- A. Just after I had left the stop.
- Q. So, you're now telling us that your recollection today is different than it was at this time?

A. Well, that's what it says, just as I was leaving the stop, yes.

Q. Didn't you state that the stop was a block or two back?

A. It's not a block or two. 1950 to 2050, about a block. (R. 301).

Another example can be found in the testimony where Mr. Wells states, "Now, on page 2 of the report, they have a section here called condition of equipment. You have specifically under the place where it refers to defects stated, 'brakes very spongy. Bus had received a road call earlier in the day.' Would you tell us about that." (R. 303).

In addition, an examination of Exhibit 31P as compared with Mr. Miller's testimony shows no contradiction on its face. The Transportation Loss Report does not describe the movement of the Mustang in any way as to where it came from, how long it was in front of the driver, or any other actions it took except for the fact that it "stopped abruptly." The testimony of Mr. Miller, therefore, merely supplemented and explained in detail the rather cursory report filed with the UTA.

Plaintiff in his brief has erroneously used the word "Defendant" rather than "Plaintiff" in his heading of Point II by stating:

The Defendant was Denied a Fair Trial by the Failure of Defendant John G. Miller to Appear at Trial . . . (Appellant's brief, p. 15).

In actuality, this statement is correct since if any prejudice occurred by the absence of Mr. Miller it was to the defendants, not to Plaintiff. Defendants were forced to rely upon the deposition of Miller which had been taken entirely by Plaintiff's attorney. Without Miller's testimony there was no evidence as to a different version of the accident than that told by the plaintiff.

For this reason, it is inconceivable that Defendants would not wish Mr. Miller present in the courtroom to testify so that defense counsel could frame the questions and present the evidence for the benefit of Defendants. Any hardship in Miller's failure to attend went directly to Defendant UTA which was then forced to rely entirely upon the deposition of Mr. Miller taken only by the plaintiff's attorney.

For the preceding reasons, therefore, the failure of Miller to appear at trial in no way prejudiced the plaintiff and the claimed error is totally without merit.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE CONSEQUENCES OF THEIR APPORTIONMENT OF NEGLIGENCE.

Plaintiff argues in his brief that he was prejudiced because the jury was not told that a finding of over 50% negligence on the part of Plaintiff would preclude any recovery. Plaintiff admits that no formal objection was

made and that no proposed instruction was submitted to the trial court. Since Plaintiff is required under Rule 51, U.R.C.P., to specifically object to the failure of giving instructions and to file written requests of proposed instructions, the failure to do so waives any arguments Plaintiff may now make.

In fact, the instant case is no different than that case cited by Plaintiff, Lampkin v. Lynch, 600 P.2d 530 (Utah 1979), where the plaintiff there also failed to properly object in the lower court and this Court stated, "This point is raised for the first time on appeal and hence was not ruled upon by the trial court. Consequently we do not consider it on appeal." Id. at 533.

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